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Tailwind is a privately owned, next generation oil and 
gas company continuing to grow a robust, value-driven 
portfolio of UK Continental Shelf (UKCS) assets. 
 

Our agile approach focuses on working with partners to deliver technically advanced and cost-effective 
development and production of upstream assets. By combining years of industry knowledge and a 
fundamentally different approach to opportunity identification, we find and create value from the UKCS. 
 
We are driven by our core values of teamwork, trust and transparency. This underscores our attitude to 
industry operations and business development. It is in this spirit that Tailwind forges strong partnerships 
across the oil and gas sector and value-chain. 
 

Highlights 
  
Revenue 
 

$381.7 million 

  
Production (2021 Daily Average) 
 

14.0 kboepd 
  
Adjusted EBITDA*  
 

$228.8 million 
*Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation to profit for the year of $70.1 
million is on page 53 

  
2P reserves at 31 December 2021 (ERCE CPR) 
 

43.7 mmboe 

  
Available Liquidity* at 31 December 2021 
 

$229.8 million 
*defined as cash and committed facilities 

  
2P+2C reserves at 31 December 2021 (ERCE CPR) 
 

70.9 mmboe 
 

For our glossary of terms, please see page 52 
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2021 was as pivotal for our industry as 2020 had been but with very different drivers and outcomes.  A triumvirate of 
challenges emerged in the year to place both acute and longer term demands on oil and gas producers.  The covid 
pandemic effectively froze the global economy in 2020 with a resultant catastrophic demand destruction for oil and 
gas and a subsequent precipitous drop in the price of commodities leaving many companies in a perilous state. 2021 
saw a huge rebound in economic activity, driven by the widespread roll-out of covid vaccines, fuelling a global 
recovery that made significant demands on energy suppliers. Furthermore, the energy transition was given global 
public attention in October 2021 during the UN Climate Change Conference (COP 26) with, amongst others, a call 
for an accelerated departure from reliance on hydrocarbons.  As we exited 2021, geo-political tensions introduced 
national and regional energy security concerns and lead to proactive measures to ensure security of supply amid 
increasing macro-economic inflationary pressures.  Against the backdrop of these challenges, Tailwind continued to 
steward its business proactively to ensure our work programmes were successfully carried out.  Prudent risk and 
financial management allowed us to navigate and exit 2020 without any compromise to our investment programme 
and undertake our 2021 activities seamlessly which are now continuing into 2022.  We also took measures to re-shape 
our portfolio refreshing the hopper of reserves additions and production opportunities whilst, at the same time, 

 
 
The covid pandemic continued to bring logistical challenges to North Sea operations particularly in the first half of 
the year, but minimal impact was seen at the operational level of our business reflecting the diligence of our own staff 
and also that of our operating partners.  We continued with our work-from-home scheme for office-based activities 
but relaxed this as we moved through the year to offer the Tailwind team their choice of the physical workplace and, 
importantly, to bring social contact back to work. 
 
Tailwind conducted some portfolio high grading in 2021 with the sale of our operated Conwy asset to ENI concluding 
in July.  Whilst Conwy had been a strong producing asset for Tailwind, the continued escalation in the cost share 
arrangement with the Douglas platform, an increasing emissions profile, as well as a growing business mis-alignment 
with -positioning of its Liverpool Bay assets into its HyNet renewables project meant a sale became 
ever more obvious.  We transferred Conwy with an exemplary HSE record and we have retained no future Conwy 
decommissioning liabilities.  Within the same month as completing the sale of Conwy, Tailwind acquired Decipher 
Energy  a privately owned North Sea producer.  The rationale for the acquisition was to diversify our production 
base through different infrastructure as well as provide the Group with growth opportunities that could be executed 
within a short time frame and with established practices and technology.  It is anticipated that the acquired Orlando 
field will be capable of producing over 4,000 bopd after a workover to replace the electrical submersible pumps (ESPs) 
in Q3 2022.  
 

actual production in the 2021 averaged 14,000 boepd, slightly higher than budget.  All assets performed at 
or over plan except for Columbus which suffered from a late start-up due to overrunning works at the Shearwater host 
facility.  Operationally, the Group invested our highest capital spend programme to date with two wells being 
successfully drilled and completed: the non-operated Columbus well in July 2021 and the operated Evelyn 
development well which flowed at c.10,000 boepd on test in September 2021. The Evelyn well was left suspended 
awaiting planned tie-in to the Triton FPSO during the 2022 planned shut-down.  Columbus commenced first 
commercial production on 24 November 2021, and has benefitted from high gas prices.  The walk-to-work campaign 
and summer shutdown on Triton was carried out on schedule, and uptime over the year was excellent, demonstrating 
the success of the continued efforts of Dana, as Triton operator, to improve the facilities and processing in support of 
life extension objectives.  
production of 14,100 boepd, 2021 production reflects the inherent strong performance of the Triton fields and the 
increased uptime of the Triton vessel. 
 
The Group made great strides toward realising identified opportunities with the sanctioning of the Gannet-E 4th (GE-
04) well, the rig award for Orlando workover and award of the subsea contracts to tie-in the Evelyn Field and Gannet 
E expansion via a second flowline. The deliberate timing of sanctioning and executing these projects was to take 
advantage of competitive rig & vessel rates in an otherwise depressed market all adding to the value of these 
opportunities. Along with the development projects mentioned, we plan well interventions on the both the Bittern and 
Guillemot West Fields in 2022/23 to be executed by Dana as Triton operator. The combined activities are anticipated 
to almost double the  current production levels when online in late 2022 / early 2023.  2022 will be the most 
eagerly awaited year yet for the Group. 
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Turning to financial metrics, our robust production performance and exposure to the prevailing oil and gas price 
($71/bbl Brent and 120p/therm average over 2021), over and above those previously hedged volumes, resulted in an 
increase in revenue to $382 million relative to 2020 ($263 million).  This translates into a final EBITA of $229 million 
(2020: $134 million). The strong financial performance allows the Group to seamlessly recycle cash back into the 
business, in line with the planned investment programme in 2022 as well as continuing to build a strong cash position 
for M&A opportunities.  self-funded reinvestment and short cycle pay-back model are the fundamentals 
of our strategy which has seen the rapid growth from inception to its current favourable position and outlook.

We continued to have support from our lending banks with an increase in available borrowing base against a low debt 
/ asset value ratio. This has positioned us well to grow the Group both investing in our existing opportunity set and 
through acquisitions. 2021 saw the acquisition of Decipher Energy and we continue to be involved in the M&A arena 
but we will not deviate from either asset quality or acceptable price that has brought the Group its success to date.

Tailwind has evolved its position on ESG reporting with an increasingly proactive approach to emissions management.  
We ranked in the top quartile of NSTA) profiling of UKCS companies in 2021 with 
respect to ESG reporting and have since built on this to introduce further globally recognised reporting standards, such 
as the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) and the Sustainability Accounting Standards 
Board (SASB), in our disclosures.  We have worked hard to understand and align with the expectations of the NSTA, 
our lending banks, investors and employees to actively reduce our emissions profile.  As way of example, through the 
divestment of the Conwy asset, we have brought our net portfolio emissions down to 30.9kg CO2/boe from 34.8kg 
CO2/boe in 2020 with the expectation that 2022 and 2023 will see this intensity fall further with planned production 
additions. The Group is currently working with specialist consultants to evaluate possible participation in non-oil and 
gas opportunities targeting carbon positive investments.

The Group is very well positioned to take the next step forward in terms of production with the portfolio of activities 
in 2022 but 2021 has laid the necessary foundations for this growth.  It is, for me, without doubt that our people staff 
and contractors made and continue to make this happen and are core to how we, as a Group and a community, decide 
on the right steps and culture to succeed.  We are proud of our extraordinary achievements in such a short period of 
time and, through our demonstrable growth and stewarding of our business, we aim to become even more relevant in 
contributing to energy security and the energy transition through 2022 and into the future.

Steve Edwards
Chief Executive Officer
26 May 2022
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Strategic Report 
 
The directors present their strategic report of NSV Energy Limite NSV ies 
Tailwind Energy Ltd, Tailwind Mistral Ltd, Tailwind Energy Sirocco Ltd, Tailwind Energy Chinook Ltd and Tailwind 
Energy Bora Ltd (the "Group" ) for the year ended 31 December 2021. The Company is a private 
company limited by shares and the Company and Group are domiciled and incorporated in the UK under the 
Companies Act 2006 and registered in England and Wales. The registered office address of all members of the Group 
is 62 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1E 6AJ, United Kingdom. 
 
Principal activities 
 
The principal activity of the Group and the Company is the acquisition, exploration, development and production of 
oil and gas reserves on the UKCS. Tailwind continued to deploy its strategy of exploiting organic production and 
near-term reserves growth through the acquisition of Decipher during 2021, while disposing of the Conwy field which 
was near the end of its economic life.  Tailwind is developing the Evelyn field as a subsea tie-back to Triton and 
expanding the Gannet E field with a second flowline a -quality 
portfolio of established UK oil and gas development and producing assets with opportunities for reserves growth, cost 
reduction and life extension.   
 
The Group's interests in significant joint arrangements are listed below: 
 

Fields Type Ownership interest 
2021 

Ownership interest 
2020 

Bittern Production 64.63% 64.63% 
Guillemot W/NW Production 10.00% 10.00% 
Gannet E* Production 100.00% 100.00% 
Belinda* Development 100.00% 100.00% 
Evelyn* Development 100.00% 100.00% 
Conwy* Production  divested 1 July 2021 - 100.00% 
Columbus Production 25.00% 25.00% 
Orlando* Production 100.00% - 
Mansell* Exploration 100.00% - 
Valkyrie Decommissioning 25.00% 25.00% 
Arthur Decommissioning 30.00% 30.00% 

* Operated by the Group 
 
 
Review of the business 
 
The continued challenge to business in 2021 of the coronavirus pandemic resulted in Tailwind office based staff 
working from home for most of the year, with a partial return as restrictions eased. A hybrid working model has now 
been adopted in line with many businesses. Tailwind has always offered staff flexibility on working locations so this 
has not proved to impact the business. Operations have continued uninterrupted despite additional covid protocols to 
keep employees and contractors safe.  
 
Operationally, during 2021, Tailwind focused on maintaining strong production efficiency on its existing producing 
fields as well as successfully drilling the operated Evelyn well and seeing the Serica-operated Columbus well 
completed and subsequently brought into production in Q4. 
14.0 kbpoed (14.1 kboepd in 2020). Field performance was as per expectation, with key assets of Gannet E and Bittern 
continuing to perform strongly.  
 
The Evelyn project remains on track with the schedule of the approved FDP. The key first offshore milestone of 
successfully drilling the first Evelyn development well was executed in Q3. The well was completed and tested at 
flow rates of 10,000 boepd and left suspended ready for hook-up in 2022. Key project dates in 2022 are the Evelyn 
subsea tieback and Gannet E second flowline installation in Q2/Q3 with Triton FPSO tie-in and topsides modifications 
in Q3 during the annual shut-down followed by first oil in Q4. A Bittern well intervention started in May 2022. A 
fourth Gannet E well has been accelerated from 2023 and will be drilled in Q4 2022, with first oil in early 2023.  
 
Revenue for 2021 was $381.7 million (2020: $262.9 million) and adjusted EBITDA for 2021 was $228.8 million 
(2020: $133.5 million) reflecting the materially higher realised oil and gas prices in 2021, as well as new production 
from Columbus and Orlando fields during the year.  
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 
Review of the business (continued) 
 
With the higher oil and gas prices at year end, there was a reversal of impairment of $10.5 million on the Columbus 
field, while there was an impairment of $2.7 million on the Orlando field relating to equipment being replaced in 
2022.This compares against an impairment charge of $60.3 million in 2020 in respect of the Columbus and Conwy 
fields. In addition, the disposal of Conwy in July 2021 resulted in a gain of $5.5 million while the acquisition of 
Decipher resulted in a gain of $7.3 million. The Group had a profit before tax of $101.4 million in 2021 (2020: loss 
before tax of $43.0 million).  
 

million). During the year, the Group amended and extended its 
RBL facility with a new maturity date of 2027 and increased the RBL facility and borrowing base from $350 million 
to $425 million. 
 
The Group generated unlevered free cash flow of $13.4 million (2020: $31.4 million), reflecting the higher capital 
expenditure on the Evelyn and Gannet E projects and had liquidity (cash and committed facilities) of $229.8 million 
(2020: $169.1 million). The Group is in a net current asset position at the year end an
current ratio remains very robust. The adjusted effective current ratio assumes a draw-down of any undrawn 
committed funding facilities as shown in the table below.  
 

At 31 December 2021 
 

Current Ratio 
Adjustment for 

undrawn loan 
Adjusted Effective 

Current Ratio  

Current Assets  228,483 125,000 353,483 

Current Liabilities  (104,400) - (104,400) 

Current Ratio % 219%  339% 
 
Operations 

 
 Group production was 5.1 mmboe in 2021 (2020: 5.2 mmboe). This represented 14.0 kboepd (2020: 14.1 

kboepd). 
 

Further details on operations during the year are provided in the CEO review. 
 

Reserves and Resources 
 
 At the end of 2021, the Group had a net proven and probable (2P) reserves of 43.7 mmboe (ERCE CPR) compared 

to 43.1 mmboe at the end of 2020. This gives a net 2P increase of 0.6 mmboe, comprising a 5.7 mmboe increase 
in future production volumes after subtracting 2021 production of 5.1 mmboe.  

 
Principal risks, uncertainties and mitigation strategies 
 

The key risks facing the Group are: 
 

 Hydrocarbon Prices: the Group's portfolio is exposed to oil prices. The Group engaged in a robust programme 
of mitigating its exposure to Brent oil prices via fixed price marketing agreements and ISDA options and its 
exposure to NBP gas prices via swap contracts. As of 31 December 2021, the Group had fixed price contracts 
for oil in excess of 33% of its 2022-2024 forecasted production (three years) at an average price of $57/bbl 
(2020:54% of its 2021-2023 production) and swaps for 80% of its 2022 gas production at an average of 
260p/therm. 
 

 Field Production: the Group is exposed to production performance on existing fields (Bittern, Guillemot 
W/NW, Gannet E, Orlando and Columbus) plus the success of new development projects which come on 
stream end 2022 (Evelyn and Gannet E expansion). The range of uncertainty is captured in the business 
planning approach and insurance programmes which Tailwind manage. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 
Principal risks, uncertainties and mitigation strategies (continued) 

 
 The external business environment is a source of emerging risks and uncertainties for the industry. 

Intensifying focus on climate change, shifting sentiment towards the E&P industry, changes in geopolitical 
landscape and the covid-19 pandemic are some of the examples of factors that add to uncertainty of doing 
business. We consider such risks and factor them into our plans. We cannot completely influence the outcome 
of such risks, but we have prepared for them via an insurance programme and business continuity planning. 
 

For a further discussion on these risks and uncertainties refer to note 22. 
 
Insurance 
 
Tailwind undertakes a significant and appropriate range of insurance programmes to minimise the risk to its 
operational and investment programmes, which includes property damage, pollution and operability and business 
interruption insurance. Our Operability Insurance (OI) policy provides a unique type of insurance for our revenues, 
by removing accidental physical damage and waiting period scopes from standard policies available in the market.  
 
 
Key performance indicators (KPIs) 
 

evelopment and commercialisation of hydrocarbon reserves in the UK 
 

 

  
Year ended 31 

December 2021 
Year ended 31 

December 2020 

Oil and gas production kboepd 
 

14.0 
 

14.1 
Revenue  US $ million 381.7 262.9 
Adjusted EBITDA  US $ million 228.8 133.5 
HSE incidences  None None 

 
Revenue and adjusted EBITDA in 2021 are significantly higher compared to prior year due to increase in hydrocarbon 
prices. Please refer to CEO review and the operations section of the strategic report for more information on our oil 
and gas production.  
 
Health, Safety and Environment  
 
The Group continues to recognise and act on its responsibilities towards Health, Safety and the Environment (HSE) 
with a key focus on ensuring that all Tailwind operations are executed in a safe and environmentally responsible 
manner. HSE is embedded in all operational readiness assurance planning activities and the Group works in 
conjunction with its contractors to ensure that all HSE risks are identified and managed appropriately. HSE 
performance of Tailwind joint venture partners are monitored to assure that all Group partners meet acceptable HSE 
standards.  
 
HSE performance on Tailwind operated assets in 2021 was excellent with no significant environmental events and 
zero Lost Time Incidents (LTI).   
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 

Environment, Social and Governance 
 
Environment 

Tailwind takes a shared approach to caring for the environment. We work within and through an independently 
verified Environmental Management System, which has been developed to comply with ISO 14001. Tailwind 
participates in the EU Emissions Trading System through the operators of our production facilities, to compensate for 
the emissions that are produced due to our activities. 
 
As well as complying with all applicable environmental and international standards, we actively support the global 
energy transition through maximizing recovery from existing assets and our decommissioning work.  We 
acknowledge and support the need to transition from the existing hydrocarbon economy to limit the effects of climate 
change on society.  Tailwind is a contributing member of bodies such as OGUK that has a defined plan and timeline 
for the UK Oil and Gas Industry to help achieve the UK Government target of net-zero carbon by 2050. 
 
Social 

Tailwind is an equal opportunity employer committed to diversity and inclusion. We believe that good corporate 
citizenship requires a meaningful commitment and contribution to the communities in which we live and work, and 
our staff, based on our core values of teamwork, trust and transparency. 
 
Governance 

Tailwind works proactively with regulators, legislators, and partners to ensure we adhere to the strictest standards of 
corporate governance and risk management. Our Code of Conduct is a living document that defines the behaviour 
required from our employees, contractors, and partners.  We actively encourage dialogue with OGA, BEIS/OPRED 
to ensure we are continually meeting expectations of our stakeholders.  This interaction also allows us to update 
regulators and policy makers and to optimize measures for the continued growth of the basin. 

at 
www.tailwind.co.uk. 
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) - unaudited 
 
Tailwind has equity in the Bittern, Guillemot West & North West and Gannet East fields in the UKCS that export oil 
and gas via the Triton FPSO, the Conwy field (divested in July 2021) that exports oil via the Douglas platform 
installation and the Orlando Field that exports oil via the Ninian Central platform. The method of reporting by 

  
 
As 2020 was the first time that emissions data were reported, 2020 is 

been improved considerably in 2021 and it is now considered that the 2021 reporting of energy use between operations 
is more consistent and aligned to reporting guidance.  The energy use reported in 2020 was made with best endeavours 
based on information available at the time and overall, represented a highly conservative estimate. 
 
The 2021 Emissions have been independently verified by ERCE to be in accordance with the Greenhouse gas (GHG) 
Protocol: A corporate reporting and accounting standard, and the principles of ISO 14064-3:2019 and Tailwind will 
use the 2021 reporting methodology going forward. 
 

a kilogramme (kg) of CO2 equivalent emitted per barrel of 
equivalent produced. Conversion of energy usage in megawatt hours (MWh) to emissions of CO2 equivalent has been 
taken from the UK Government conversion factor methodology document.  
 
Tailwind participates, indirectly, in the UK Emissions Trading Scheme (UK-ETS) via our operating partners Dana 
Petroleum, ENI and CNRI and combustion, vented and fugitive emissions data was obtained from UK-ETS and 
Environmental and Emission Monitoring System (EEMS) reported data.  
 
Tailwind both encourage and support the energy efficiency initiatives of our operators to reduce emissions. These 

ions in 2022 and the future. 
 
Emissions saving opportunities for the Triton FPSO have been investigated and a range of opportunities have been 
agreed. Activities such as work on the flare and optimisation of existing compression facilities are planned to reduce 
emissions on Triton. 
 
Midway during 2021 Tailwind divested its operated Conwy platform (the only Scope 1 emissions source). This has 
reduced the Scope 1 emissions and the overall energy intensity for Tailwind compared to 2020 levels. 
 
Tailwind also acquired the Orlando field in 2021 and associated full year emissions are included in the Scope 3 
emissions with other equity/production share emissions for non-operated activities including drilling and project 
activities undertaken in 2021. 
  



 

 
NSV Energy Limited  

Registered number: 06220464  8 
 

Strategic Report (continued) 
 
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) 

Tailwind SECR table 2021    

2021 Emissions have been verified By ERCE to be in accordance with the GHG Protocol: A corporate reporting 
and accounting standard, and the principles of ISO 14064-3:2019 

Energy and Emissions Reporting 

Scope 1 Direct GHG Emissions: 
 

    2020 Baseline 2021 

Total Emissions  tCO2e 83,543  34,912  

Energy Use MWh/yr 44,676  51,785  

Note: Scope 1 includes emissions from combustion for energy, flare and direct hydrocarbon emissions from 
Tailwind's operations. This includes the operated Conwy platform for all of 2020 and for 6 months (Jan-Jun) of 
2021 before the platform and all associated production was divested to ENI. 

Scope 2 Indirect Emissions  
Purchased electricity & gas consumed by the organisation's onshore office facilities 

    2020 Baseline 2021 

Total Emissions  tCO2e 9  25  

Energy Use MWh/yr 46.61  106.67  

Note: Scope 2 includes onshore energy provided to the London office with electricity provided from a 100% 
renewable source (certified by Carbon Trust compliant with GHG Protocol Scope 2 Guidance). In 2020 only 
electricity was reported for the London office. In 2021 Electricity and gas is reported for the London office and 
Electricity for the Aberdeen office acquired with Orlando acquisition. 

Scope 3 other Indirect Emissions: 
-operated activities 

(equity/production share) and travel 

    2020 Baseline 2021 

Total Emissions  tCO2e 99,726  133,457  

Energy Use MWh/yr 427,544  144,871  

Note: Scope 3 includes emissions from combustion for energy, flare and direct hydrocarbon emissions from 
Tailwind's operations. This includes Bittern, Gannet, and Guillemot (W &NW) operations tied back to the non-
operated Triton FPSO (2020 and 2021), and 2021 also includes Orlando operation tied back to the non-operated 
Ninian Central platform, Columbus production tied back to the non-operated Shearwater platform as well as  
emissions from non-operated development/project activities including drilling (Columbus and Evelyn), well 
abandonment (Belinda) , marine surveys (Evelyn, Gannet and Orlando) and all business associated travel. 
        
Emissions Summary 
    2020 Baseline 2021 

Total Emissions  tCO2e 183,278  168,394  

Energy Use MWh/yr 472,266  196,762  

        
Total Carbon Emissions Intensity 
Ratio 

kg CO2e/boe 34.8  31.0  
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Strategic Report (continued) 
 
This section of the Strategic Report describes how the directors have had regard to the matters set out in section 172(1) 
of the Companies Act 2006. The section specifies that the Directors must act in good faith when promoting the success 
of the Group and in doing so have regard (amongst other things) to: 
  
a. the likely consequences of any decision in the long term,  
b. the interests of the Group   
c. the need to foster the Group  and others,  
d. the impact of the Group   
e. the desirability of the Group maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct, and  
f. the need to act fairly as between members of the Company and Group. 
 
In discharging our section 172 duties, we have regard to the factors set out above. We also have regard to other factors 
that we consider relevant to the decision being made.  
 
The Board of Directors is collectively responsible for the decisions made towards the long-term success of the Group 
and how the strategic, operational and risk management decisions have been implemented throughout the business is 
detailed in the preceding sections of this Strategic Report. We acknowledge that every decision we make will not 
necessarily result in a positive outcome for all of our stakeholders. By considering the  mission, vision and 
values together with its strategic priorities and having a clear process in place for decision making, we do, however, 
aim to make sure that our decisions are consistent and predictable. 

 Employees  

Our employees are a significant asset to our business.  offices operate on an open-door policy and, due 
to our flat structure, employees are encouraged at all levels to directly feedback to management and Directors. 
Due to the Covid pandemic, staff were asked to work from home for all office-based positions with limited office 
access and close communication with all staff has been maintained throughout this period through a combination 
of monthly online business update meetings during which key business issues are discussed and the employees 
updated on progress towards corporate targets, weekly functional online meetings and one-to-one calls. The 
monthly and weekly meetings are attended by the Directors and facilitate two-way communications with 
employees. Employees are encouraged to submit suggestions to improve the business including opportunities to 
improve safety, offshore working and training and the Group has implemented suggestions raised by employees 
on flexible working arrangements.. Our strategies have proven to be very effective and the business has functioned 
well throughout the Covid pandemic.  

 Partners and suppliers  

The Board of Directors acknowledges that a strong business relationship with partners, suppliers and customers 
is a vital part of the growth. Tailwind works closely with joint venture (JV) partners to deliver solutions for asset 
safety, integrity, and field life. We collaborate with JVs to develop risk mitigation strategies for any delays or 
instances of underperformance in our operations. We engage regularly with operators and partners on day-to-day 
operations to share knowledge, offer support and use our influence to establish best practices. On a more formal 
basis, senior management attend JV committee meetings on at least a quarterly basis to participate in material 
decisions.  

The Directors uphold ethical business behaviour across all of the  activities and have established a Code 
of Conduct which requires comparable business practices from partners and suppliers doing business with the 
Group. We treat suppliers equally, without discrimination and also ensure that creditors are paid within the 
contracted terms.  

Regular meetings are held with all members of the G quarterly formal 
presentations as well as ad hoc business updates  historically in person but online during the Covid pandemic 

 Community and environment 

Care of the community and the environment in which the Group works is a business priority. We adhere to all 
applicable legislation. For further details, please see the Environment, Social and Governance section of the 
Strategic Report and www.tailwind.co.uk for our Health & Safety Policy and Environmental Care Policy. 
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Strategic Report (continued)

Section 172 Statement Companies Act 2006 (continued)

Maintain a reputation for high standards of business conduct

The UK in general and UK offshore sector in particular are highly regulated business environments and the UK 
is widely considered to be one of the most transparent and well-regulated E&P markets globally We build strong, 
transparent relationships with the government and regulatory authorities. We adhere to all relevant legislation in 
the areas where we have our operations and disclose all necessary information. Tailwind ranked in the top quartile 
of NSTA) profiling of UKCS companies in 2021 with respect to ESG 
reporting.. We are also a member of the Oil & Gas UK and the Association of British Independent Oil Exploration 
Companies (BRINDEX) which works with the OGA and UK Government on issues that impact the oil and gas 
industry.
select suppliers with the same high standards of business conduct to us.

Shareholders

The Group is privately owned by the Directors and Mercuria, a global energy and commodity group. The 
Directors are deeply involved in all key decisions and formal board meetings are supplemented by ad hoc 
communicatio

Future developments

Please refer to the CEO 2021 review for details on future developments.

On behalf of the Board

Jacques J Tohme
Director
26 May 2022
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited financial statements 
 for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

 

Directors 

The Directors who served the Company during the period 1 January 2021 up to the date of the financial statements 
were as follows: 

 Dr S C Edwards 
 Dr D P Freeman 
 J J Tohme 
 T Z H Ujejski 
 D K Gallagher (resigned 10 June 2021) 

 

Results and dividends 

profit for the year after tax amounted to $70.3 million (2020: loss of $34.2 million). Dividends of $36.4 
million were declared for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: $71.8 million). 
 
Financial instruments 

The Group finances its activities with a combination of loans and cash. Other financial assets and liabilities, such as 
 

Financial instruments can give rise to foreign currency, interest rate, credit, price and liquidity risk. The Group continued 
to enter into a combination of fixed-price physical sales contract and cash-settled financial commodity derivatives to 

Information on these risks is 
set out above in the Strategic Report and note 22 to the financial statements. During the year, the Group entered into 

entered into currency swap contracts to manage risk arising from exchange rate movements in US Dollar against Pounds 
Sterling. 
 

 

The Company has made qualifying third-party indemnity provisions for the benefit of its Directors which were made 
during the year and remain in force at the date of this report. 
 
Post balance sheet events 
 
On 27 February 2022, a conflict broke out between Russia and Ukraine. Following this, numerous governments around 
the world have implemented sanctions against Russia and Belarus. The Directors do not expect any material impact 
for the Group and its subsidiaries. 
 

Investments Ltd. 
 
Future developments 

Please refer to the CEO 2021 review for details on future developments. 
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Other 

There were no political contributions made by the Group during the year (2020: nil). Please refer to Section 172 
statement in the Strategic Report for more details on our engagement with suppliers, customers and others. Please 
refer to the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting in the Strategic Report for more details on our energy and 
carbon reporting. 

 
 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards in conformity with the requirement of the Companies Act 2006 and have also elected to prepare the parent 
company financial statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the 
requirement of the Companies Act 2006. Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements 
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or 
loss of the Company for that year. In preparing these financial statements, International Accounting Standard 1 
requires that Directors: 
 
 properly select and apply accounting policies; 
 present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable 

and understandable information;  
 make judgements and estimates that are reasonable; 
 provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in International Accounting 

Standards in conformity with the requirement of the Companies Act 2006 is insufficient to enable users to 
understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's financial position 
and financial performance; and 

 state whether the Group and Company financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirement of the Companies Act 2006; and 

 . 
 
The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the 

Group and Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. 
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps 
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information on the 

statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this report confirms that, to the best of their knowledge: 

 
 the financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, give a true 

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Company and the undertakings 
included in the consolidation taken as a whole; 

 the strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position 
of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description 
of the principal risks and uncertainties that they face; and 

 the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide 

and strategy. 
 
 



NSV Energy Limited

Registered number: 06220464 13

responsibilities statement

Going concern

The Group closely monitors and carefully manages its liquidity risk. Cash forecasts are regularly produced, and 
sensitivities run for different scenarios including, but not limited to, changes in commodity prices and different 

1 of 
$229.8 million comprising our cash balance of $104.8 million and $125.0 million of available and undrawn headroom 
under the RBL facility and a Junior Facility Agreement with Mercuria, the consolidated accounts have been prepared 
on a going concern basis.

The going concern basis is supported by future cash flow forecasts, reflecting forecast production consistent with our 
Board approved plans, including the transactions disclosed in the Post Balance Sheet Events section of the Directors 
Report and note 26, which
2023.

In reaching the conclusion that the going concern is appropriate, we have stress tested future cash flow forecasts and 
covenant compliance for the Group to evaluate the impact of plausible downside scenarios. These include scenarios 
that reflect short term oil prices of $50/bbl and short term gas prices of 75p/therm for the going concern period as well 
as scenarios that consider a 30% reduction in production to cater for unforeseen production outages. 

Following this review, the directors are satisfied that, after taking into consideration the current macroeconomic 
situation and uncertainty arising from the covid-19 pandemic, the Company and the Group have adequate resources 
to continue to operate and meet their liabilities as they fall due for the foreseeable future, a period considered to be at 
least 12 months from the date of signing these Financial Statements. For this reason, they continue to adopt the Going 
Concern Basis for preparing the Financial Statements.

Statement of Disclosure to Auditor

Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of approval of this annual report confirms that:

so far as the Director is
unaware; and

the Director has taken all steps required to make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to 

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies 
Act 2006.

Auditor

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and Deloitte LLP 
will therefore continue in office.

Approved by the Board and signed on its behalf by

Jacques Tohme
Director
26 May 2022
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NSV Energy Limited 

Report on the audit of the financial statements 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 
 the financial statements of NSV Energy Limited  

give a true and fair view of the state of the 31 December 
2021 and of profit for the year then ended;  

 the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom adopted 
international accounting standards and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB);  

 the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
adopted international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the 
Companies Act 2006; and 

 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 
2006. 

 
We have audited the financial statements which comprise: 

 the consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income; 
 the consolidated and parent company balance sheets; 
 the consolidated statements of changes in equity; 
 the company statements of changes in equity; 
 the consolidated and company cash flow statements; and 
 the related notes 1 to 27. 

 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is 
applicable law, United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The 
financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is 
applicable law and United Kingdom adopted international accounting standards and as applied in accordance with 
the provisions of the Companies Act 2006. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council (the 

Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 

to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.  
 
Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report.  
 

  



 

 
NSV Energy Limited  

Registered number: 06220464  15 
 

NSV Energy Limited (continued) 
 
Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
The directors are responsible for the other information contained within the annual 

report. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of directors 

As explained more fully in the d responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 

rn and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent 
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the  website 
at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our  
 

Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.  
 

documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also 
enquired of management about their own identification and assessment of the risks of irregularities.  
 
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and identified the 
key laws and regulations that: 
 had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements . These 

included UK Companies Act, tax legislation, and the statutory framework determined by the Oil and Gas 
Authority (OGA); and 

 do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the 
 s, 

environmental regulations and anti-bribery and corruption legislation. 
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 (continued) 
 
We discussed among the audit engagement team including relevant internal specialists such as valuations and 
industry specialists regarding the opportunities and incentives that may exist within the organisation for fraud and 
how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements. 
 
As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in valuation of the oil and gas 
assets, and our specific procedures performed to address it are described below: 
 

 
impairment assessment; 

 we understood the relevant associated controls and tested the design and implementation  of such controls; 
 we evaluated and challenged the key assumptions adopted in determining the recoverability of the assets, 

including forecast oil prices, production profiles and discount rates, and the controls over those 
assumptions; 

 we assessed the reliability of the reserves estimates with input from of our internal specialist team; and 
 we engaged an internal specialist to evaluate and benchmark the discount rate. 

 
In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the 
risk of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the 
appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making 
accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant 
transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business. 
In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following: 

 reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with 
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements; 

 performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate 
risks of material misstatement due to fraud;  

 enquiring of management on actual and potential litigation and claims, and instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations; and  

 reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing correspondence with HMRC, 
the licensing authority and any other relevant regulatory authorities. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 
 the information given in the strategic report and the d report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 
 the strategic report and the d report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 

requirements. 
 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the 
d report. 
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 (continued) 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion: 
 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or 
 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 
 certain disclosures of directo  
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the 

r no other purpose. To the fullest extent 

members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Ivan Boonzaaier, FCA (Senior statutory auditor) 
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
London, UK 

26 May 2022 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
  Year ended 31 December 2021 Year ended 31 December 2020 
  Continuing 

operations 
Discontinued 
operations 

Total Continuing 
operations 

Discontinued 
operations 

Total 

        
 Notes       
        
Revenue 5 341,174 40,565 381,739 193,967 68,911 262,878 
        
Cost of sales  (237,034) (27,601) (264,635) (108,509) (95,703) (204,212) 
        
Gross profit/(loss)  104,140 12,964 117,104 85,458 (26,792) 58,666 
        
Exploration and 
evaluation expenses 

 (752)  (752) (642)  (642) 

Other income/(cost) 13,15 6,214 (6,602) (388) (18,806) 1,902 (16,904) 
Impairment reversal/ 
(charge), net 

11 7,821  7,821 (10,700) (49,600) (60,300) 

Gains on disposal 3 - 5,467 5,467 - - - 
Gains on acquisition 4 7,258 - 7,258 - - - 
General and 
administrative 
expenses 

 (19,780) 
 

(1,768) 
 

(21,548) 
 

(12,772) (1,419) (14,191) 

        
Operating 
profit/(loss) 

6 104,901 10,061 114,962 42,538 (75,909) (33,371) 

        
Finance income and 
other gains 

8 511 
 

- 511 
 

3,722 - 3,722 

Finance costs, other 
finance expense and 
losses 

8 (14,119) - (14,119) (13,319) - (13,319) 

        
Profit/(loss) before 
taxation 

 91,293 10,061 101,354 32,941 (75,909) (42,968) 

        
Taxation 9 (16,068) (14,953) (31,021) (21,587) 30,364 8,777 
        
Profit/(loss) for the 
year 

 75,225 (4,892) 70,333 10,837 (45,545) (34,191) 

        
        
Other comprehensive 
results for the year, 
net of taxation 

 

- - - - - - 
        
Total 
comprehensive 
income/(loss) for the 
year, net of taxation 

 

 
75,225 

 
(4,892) 

 
70,333 10,837 

 
(45,545) 

 
(34,191) 
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Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets
as at 31 December 2021

Group Company
31 December 

2021
31 December 

2020
31 December 

2021
31 December 

2020
Note

Assets
Non-current assets
Exploration and evaluation assets 10 160 27,579 - -
Property, plant and equipment 11 680,332 533,000 - -
Investment in subsidiary 12 - - 2 2
Other financial assets 13 1,326 3,382 - -
Deferred tax 9 54,082 85,103 - -
Trade and other receivables 15 4,003 12,465 - -

739,903 661,529 2 2
Current assets
Inventories 14 11,435 11,925 - -
Trade and other receivables 15 73,996 53,789 7,581 5,081
Other financial assets 13 38,247 16,180 - -
Cash and cash equivalents 16 104,813 62,471 6 38,748

228,491 144,365 7,587 43,829

Total assets 968,394 805,894 7,589 43,831

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 17 68,148 43,097 5 5
Other financial liabilities 18 10,677 - - -
Provisions 13 18,000 5,993 - -

96,825 49,090 5 5

Non-current liabilities
Provisions 18 117,973 108,483 - -
Interest bearing loans 19 344,599 274,347 - -
Other financial liabilities 13 1,136 - - -

463,708 382,830 -
Total Liabilities 560,533 431,920 5 5
Net assets 407,861 373,974 7,584 43,826

Equity
Called up share capital 20 - - - -
Share premium 20 - - - -
Currency translation reserve (3,163) (3,163) - -
Retained earnings 411,024 377,137 7,584 43,826
Total equity 407,861 373,974 7,584 43,826

The Company reported a profit for the year ended 31 December 2021 of $0.2 million (2020: $110.5 million).

The financial statements of NSV Energy Limited, company number 06220464, were approved by the Board of 
Directors and authorised for issue on 26 May 2022. They were signed on its behalf by:

Jacques J Tohme
Director
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
  Group Company 
  Year ended 

31 
December 

2021 

Year ended 
31 

December 
2020 

Year ended 
31 

December 
2021 

Year ended 
31 

December 
2020 

 Note $ 000    
      

Profit/(loss) before tax  101,354 (42,968) 204 110,515 
Adjustments to reconcile profit/(loss)before tax to net 

cash flows: 
     

Depreciation, depletion and amortisation 11 98,303 106,595 - - 
Impairment (reversal)/charge 11 (7,821) 60,300 - - 
Gain on disposal 3 (5,467) - - - 
Gain on acquisition 4 (7,258) - - - 
Other cost 13,15 388 16,904 - - 
Finance income 8 (204) (856) (204) (515) 
Dividend income  - - - (110,000) 
Finance costs 8 8,119 9,125 - - 
Change in provision  36,262 (16,735) - - 
Unwinding of discount 8 185 1,544 - - 
Loan commitment fee expensed 8 2,123 1,607 - - 
Foreign currency swaps 8 3,692 (2,866) - - 

  229,676 132,650 - - 
Working capital adjustments:    -  

(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (23,558) (10,881) (2,500) - 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  13,156 (23,293) - - 
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  6,465 (7,111) - - 

Cash from operations  225,739 91,365 (2,500) - 
Hedging amounts paid  (1,508) (566) - - 
Interest paid  (5,397) (9,125) - - 
Interest received  204 856 204 515 

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  219,038 82,530 (2,296) 515 
      

Investing activities      
Dividends received  - - - 110,000 
Acquisition of Decipher  (78,014) - -  
Disposal of Conwy  (21,803) - -  
Acquisition of Triton area assets  - (10,000) - - 
Decommissioning expenditure  (1,914) (434) - - 
Exploration and evaluation asset additions  (2,043) (7,859) - - 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (101,886) (42,278) - - 

Net cash (used in)/ provided by investing activities  (205,660) (60,571) - 110,000 
      

Financing activities      
Proceeds from borrowings 19 70,069 - - - 
Loan commitment fees  (4,659) (517) - - 
Repayment of borrowings 19 - (30,000) - - 
Dividends paid  (36,446) (71,773) (36,446) (71,773) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities  28,964 (102,290) (36,446) (71,773) 
      

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents  

 
42,342 (80,331) (38,742) 38,742 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  62,471 142,802 38,748 6 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16 104,813 62,471 6 38,748 
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1. Corporate information 

The consolidated financial statements of NSV Energy Limited (the Group ) for the year ended 31 
December 2021 which comprise the parent company, NSV Energy Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries, 
Tailwind Energy Ltd, Tailwind Mistral Ltd, Tailwind Energy Sirocco Ltd, Tailwind Energy Chinook Ltd and Tailwind 
Energy Bora Ltd were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 26 May 2022.  
 
NSV Energy Limited is a private limited company by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies 
Act 2006 and registered in England and Wales. The principal activity of the Group and the Company is the acquisition, 
exploration, development and production of oil and gas reserves on the UKCS. The registered office address of 
Tailwind Energy Chinook Ltd is c/o Burness Paull LLP, Union Plaza, Aberdeen AB10 1DQ. The registered office 
address of all other members of the Group is 62 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1E 6AJ, United Kingdom. 

2. Accounting Policies 

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered material 
 

 
Going Concern 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the going concern basis of accounting. The use of 
this basis of accounting takes into consideration the 

 
 
Basis of Preparation  

The Group has prepared its financial statements in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis 
except for the valuation of hedging instruments. The Group financial statements are presented in US Dollars and all 

 
 
The Group has elected to take the exemption under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present a company 
income statement. The profit recorded for the year ended 31 December 2021 was $0.2 million (2020: $110.5 million). 
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations issued and effective during the financial year beginning 1 
January 2021 that are relevant to the Group 
 
The Group has considered all new and amended IFRSs issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(IASB), that are mandatorily effective for the year ending 31 December 2021. Where the changes affect the Group, 
the relevant application and disclosure has been made during the year to 31 December 2021. The new and amended 
IFRSs during the year are as detailed below:  
 

 Amendments to IFRS 7, IFRS 9, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IAS 39 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 
 Amendments to IFRS 16 covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 

 
The replacement of key interest rate benchmarks such as the London Inter-bank Offered rate (LIBOR) with alternative benchmarks 
in the US, UK, EU and other territories occurred at the end of 2021 for most benchmarks, with remaining USD LIBOR tenors 
expected to cease in 2023. Tailwind is primarily exposed to 1 month USD LIBOR that will be available until June 2023. The 
application of the above standards and amendments did not have any material impact on the 
financial statements. 
 
Standards issued but not yet effective that are relevant to the Company 
 
The following standards and amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published and are 

Company had not early adopted them: 
 

 IFRS 17  - Insurance Contracts  
 IFRS 10 and IAS 28 (amendments)  - Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate 

or Joint Venture 
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 Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and Disclosure of Accounting 
Policies 

 Amendments to IAS 8 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
Standards issued but not yet effective that are relevant to the Company (continued) 
 

 Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to the Conceptual Framework 
 Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction 
 Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment  Proceeds before Intended Use 
 Amendments to IAS 37 - Onerous Contracts  Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 
 Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018 2020 Cycle - Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 

International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IFRS 16 Leases, and IAS 41 
Agriculture 

 
The directors do not expect that the adoption of the Standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial 
statements of the Group in future periods. 
 
Basis of Consolidation  

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled 
by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved when the Company: 

 has power over the investee; 
 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
 has the ability to use its power to affects its returns. 

 
The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 
 
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the 
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, the results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the 
year are included in profit or loss from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company ceases 
to control the subsidiary. 
 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies 

 
 
All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between the 
members of the Group are eliminated on consolidation. 
 
Foreign currency translation 
 
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency, being the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates, and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency.  The consolidated financial statements are presented in US Dollars, which is also the 

currency. 
 

average rate of exchange. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the profit and loss 
account, except when hedge accounting is applied. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are measured at historic cost based on exchange rates at the date of the transaction and subsequently not 
retranslated. 
 
On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of the G
balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average monthly exchange rates for the year. Equity 
is held at historic costs and are not retranslated. The resulting exchange differences are recognised as other 

nslation reserve. 
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Joint arrangements 
 
Exploration and production operations are usually conducted through joint arrangements with other parties. The Group 
reviews all joint arrangements and classifies them as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the rights 
and obligations of each party to the arrangement and whether the arrangement is structured through a separate vehicle. 
All interests in joint arrangements held by the Group are classified as joint operations. 
 
In relation to its interests in joint operations, the Group recognises its: 

 Assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; 
 Liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred jointly; 
 Revenue from the sale of its share of the output arising from the joint operation; and 
 Expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred jointly. 

 
Business combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the 
fair value of the assets transferred, equity instruments issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of 
completion of the acquisition. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in administrative expenses. 
Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement measured at its fair value at acquisition. 
 
The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired that meet the conditions for recognition under 
IFRS 3 are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that: 
 
 deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised 

and measured in accordance with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively; 
 -based payment 

awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share Based Payment; and  
 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held 

For Sale and discontinued operations are measured in accordance with that Standard. 
 
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the 
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. 
Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period, or additional assets or liabilities are 
recognised to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date 
that, if known would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date. The measurement period is the period from 
the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts and circumstances that existed 
as of the acquisition date, subject to a maximum of one year. 
 
Goodwill and bargain purchase 
 
In the event of a business combination or acquisition of an interest in a joint operation in which the activity constitutes 
a business, as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations, the acquisition method of accounting is applied. Goodwill 
arises when the aggregate of the fair value of purchase consideration transferred at the acquisition date exceeds the 
fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired. Goodwill is initially measured at 
cost. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment. Goodwill is treated 
as an asset of the relevant entity to which it relates and accordingly, non-US Dollar goodwill is translated into US 
Dollars at the closing rate of exchange at each reporting date. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least annually 
by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating units to which the goodwill relates. Where the carrying 
amount of the cash generating unit and related goodwill is higher than the recoverable amount of the cash generating 
unit, an impairment loss is recognised. 
 
Bargain purchase arises when the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired 
exceeds the aggregate of the fair value of purchase consideration transferred at the acquisition date. Bargain purchase 
is credited to the income statement when it arises. 
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Contingent Consideration 
 
When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes a contingent consideration 
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the 
consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify 
as measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against goodwill. 
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during the 

 and circumstances that 
existed at the acquisition date. 
 
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as 
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity. Other contingent consideration is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates with 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Intangible assets  exploration and evaluation assets 
 
Exploration, evaluation and expenditure is accounted for using the successful efforts method of accounting. 
 
(i) Pre-licence costs 
Pre-licence costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
(ii) Licence and property acquisition costs 
Licence and property acquisition costs paid in connection with a right to explore in an existing exploration area are 
capitalised as exploration and evaluation costs within intangible assets. 
 
Licence and property acquisition costs are reviewed at each reporting date to confirm that there is no indication that 
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. This review includes confirming that exploration drilling is still 
under way or firmly planned, or that it has been determined, or work is under way to determine that the discovery is 
economically viable based on a range of technical and commercial considerations and that sufficient progress is being 
made on establishing development plans and timing. 
 
If no future activity is planned or the licence has been relinquished or has expired, the carrying value of the licence 
and property acquisition costs are written off through the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 
Upon recognition of proved reserves and internal approval for development, the relevant expenditure is transferred to 
oil and gas properties. 
 
(iii) Exploration and evaluation costs 
 
Exploration and evaluation activity involves the search for hydrocarbon resources, the determination of technical 
feasibility and the assessment of commercial viability of an identified resource. Once the legal right to explore has 
been acquired, costs directly associated with an exploration well are capitalised as exploration and evaluation 
intangible assets until the exploration is complete and the results have been evaluated. Geological and geophysical 
costs are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, as incurred. 
 
If no potentially commercial hydrocarbons are discovered, the exploration asset is written off through the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as a dry hole. If extractable hydrocarbons are found and, subject to 
further appraisal activity (e.g., the drilling of additional wells), it is probable that they can be commercially developed, 
the costs continue to be carried as an intangible asset while sufficient/continued progress is made in assessing the 
commerciality of the hydrocarbons. Costs directly associated with appraisal activity undertaken to determine the size, 
characteristics and commercial potential of a reservoir following the initial discovery of hydrocarbons, including the 
costs of appraisal wells where hydrocarbons were not found, are initially capitalised as an intangible asset. 
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Intangible assets  exploration and evaluation assets (continued) 
 
(iii) Exploration and evaluation costs (continued) 
 
All such capitalised costs are subject to technical, commercial and management review, as well as review for indicators 
of impairment at least once a year. This is to confirm the continued intent to develop or otherwise extract value from 
the discovery. When this is no longer the case, the costs are written off through the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. 
 
When proved reserves of oil and natural gas are identified and development is sanctioned by management, the relevant 
capitalised expenditure is first assessed for impairment and (if required) any impairment loss is recognised, then the 
remaining balance is transferred to oil and gas properties. Other than licence costs, no amortisation is charged during 
the exploration and evaluation phase. 
 
(iv) Farm-outs  in the exploration and evaluation phase 
 
The Group does not record any expenditure made by the farmee on its account. It also does not recognise any gain or 
loss on its exploration and evaluation farm-out arrangements but re-designates any costs previously capitalised in 
relation to the whole interest as relating to the partial interest retained. Any cash consideration received directly from 
the farmee is credited against costs previously capitalised in relation to the whole interest with any excess accounted 
for by the farmor as a gain on disposal. 
 
(v) Development costs 
 
Expenditure on the construction, installation or completion of infrastructure facilities such as platforms, pipelines and 
the drilling of development wells, including unsuccessful development or delineation wells, is capitalised within oil 
and gas properties. 
 
Oil and gas properties and other property, plant and equipment 
 
Oil and gas properties and other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 
 
The initial cost of an asset comprises its purchase price or construction cost, any costs directly attributable to bringing 
the asset into operation, the initial estimate of the decommissioning obligation and, for qualifying assets (where 
relevant), borrowing costs. The purchase price or construction cost is the aggregate amount paid and the fair value of 
any other consideration given to acquire the asset. The capitalised value of a finance lease is also included within 
property, plant and equipment. 
 
All costs relating to the development are accumulated and not depreciated until the commencement of production. 
Depreciation is provided using the unit of production method based on proved and probable reserves. When there is a 
change in the estimated total recoverable proven and probable reserves of a field, that change is accounted for 
prospectively in the depreciation charge over the revised remaining proven and probable reserves. 
 
An item of development and production expenditure and any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of 
the asset) is included in the profit and loss account. 
 
Expenditure on major maintenance refits, inspections or repairs comprises the cost of replacement assets or parts of 
assets, inspection costs and overhaul costs. Where an asset, or part of an asset that was separately depreciated and is 
now written off is replaced and it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 
Group, the expenditure is capitalised. All other day-to-day repairs and maintenance costs are expensed as incurred. 
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Other property, plant and equipment 
 
Non-oil and gas property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. 
Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line basis at rates sufficient to write off the asset less any residual value over 
their estimated useful economic lives. The depreciation periods for the principal categories of assets are as follows: 
 
Fixtures and fittings  5 years 
 
Impairment of non-current assets (excluding goodwill) 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset (or CGU) may be impaired. 
Management has assessed its CGUs as being a field or group of field that are the lowest level for which cash inflows 
are largely independent of those of other assets. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an 

value-in-use (VIU). The recoverable amount is 
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the asset is tested as part of a larger CGU to which it belongs. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset/CGU is considered impaired 
and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
In calculating VIU, the estimated future pre-tax cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset/CGU. In determining FVLCD, recent market transactions (where available) are taken into account. If no such 
transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 
 
Financial Instruments 
 

 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. 
 
(a) Financial Assets 
All recognised financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets. 
 
Classification of financial assets 
Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

- the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and 

- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate (EIR) method, less impairment. The EIR amortisation is presented within finance income in the profit and 
loss account. 
 
The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial recognition 
minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any 
difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. The gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss allowance. 
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Financial Instruments (continued) 
 

Loans and receivables (continued) 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables. The amount of expected credit 
losses is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. 
The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The expected credit losses on these financial assets 

torical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that 
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast 
direction of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 
 
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired. If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at 

amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have been incurred) 
discounted at the fin
recognition). The losses arising from any impairment are recognised in operating expenses. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 
 
(b) Financial Liabilities 
 

Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, 
interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
(c) Derivative financial instruments 
 
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised and subsequently re-measured at fair value. When derivatives 
do not qualify for hedge accounting or are not designated as accounting hedges, changes in the fair value of the 
instrument are recognised within profit and loss. 
 
(d) Fair values 
 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are 
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. 
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the Financial Statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole: 
 

 Level 1  Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active market for identical assets and liabilities 

 Level 2  Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable 

 Level 3  Valuation techniques for which the lowest-level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable. 

 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities based on the nature, 
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 
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Inventories 
 
Inventories of consumable well supplies are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, cost being determined 
on an average cost basis. Inventories of petroleum products are stated at net realisable value. 
 
Production imbalances and under/overlift 
 
Production imbalances arise on fields as oil is lifted per each joint venture party, resulting in a variance in the volume 
of oil lifted versus the entitlement per owner per their working interest. All Group fields are operated through a Joint 
Operating Ag O
lifting schedules and are not settled in cash, with the exception of a misbalance at the cessation of contract. As 
collaborative agreements and non-monetary exchanges, the transactions do not meet the definition of a customer under 
IFRS 15 and are recognised through cost of sales. 
 
The under or over-lifted positions of hydrocarbons arising from production imbalances are valued at market prices 
prevailing at the balance sheet date. An under-lift of production from a field is included in current receivables and 
valued at the reporting date spot price or prevailing contract price. An over-lift of production from a field is included 
in current liabilities and valued at the reporting date spot price or prevailing contract price. Movements in under or 
over-lifted positions are accounted for through cost of sales. 
 
Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax risk free rate. 
When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

Decommissioning liability 

Decommisioning costs are provided for at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation using estimated 
cash flows and are recognised as part of the cost of the relevant asset. The estimated future costs of decommissioning 
are reviewed annually and adjusted as appropriate. 
 
Changes in the estimated future costs, or in the discount rate applied, are added to or deducted from the cost of the 
asset. If the decrease in the decommissioning liability exceeds the carrying amount of the asset, the excess is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. If the adjustment results in an addition to the cost of the asset, the Group 
considers whether this is an indication that the new carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. 
 
Taxes 
 
(a) Current tax 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date in the country where the Group operates and generates taxable income. 
 
Current income tax related to items recognised directly in other comprehensive income or equity is recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, not in the profit or loss. 
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Taxes (continued) 
 
(b) Deferred tax 
 
Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of all timing differences arising between the tax bases of the assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements with the following exceptions: 

 Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary difference, carried forward tax credits or tax losses can be 
utilised. 

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured on an undiscounted basis at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply when the related asset is realised or liability is settled, based on tax rates and laws enacted 
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. The carrying amount of the deferred income tax asset is 
reviewed at each reporting date. 

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset, only if a legally enforceable right exists to offset current 
assets against current tax liabilities, the deferred income tax relates to the same tax authority and that same 
tax authority permits the Group to make a single net payment. 
 

(c) Investment allowance 
 
The UK taxation regime provides for a reduction in ring fence supplementary corporation tax where investment in 
new or existing UK assets qualify for a relief known as investment allowance. Investment allowance must be activated 
by commercial production from the same field before it can be claimed. The Group has both unactivated and activated 
investment allowanc
investment allowance is recognised as a reduction in the charge to taxation in the years claimed. 
 
Revenue 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when or as the Group satisfies a performance obligation by 
transferring a promised good or service to a customer. A good or service is transferred when the customer obtains 
control of that good or service. The transfer of control of oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids, and other items sold by 
the Group usually coincides with title passing to the customer and the customer taking physical possession. The Group 
principally satisfies its performance obligations at a point in time and the amounts of revenue recognised relating to 

revenue is recognised according to the actual liftings. However, where liftings do not match working interest or 
entitlement interest, an adjustment is made to cost of sales representing the amount due to/from joint venture partners 
representing over/ underlift movements. 

Use of significant accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The prepara
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions at the date of the financial statements.  
 
Significant accounting judgements 
 
There were no significant accounting judgements applied during the year. 
 
Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
Estimates and assumptions are continuously evaluated and are based on management experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Uncertainty about 
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of 
the assets and liabilities affected in future periods. The estimates and assumptions which have a risk of causing 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below. 
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 
 
(a) Oil and gas reserves (note 11) 
 
Significant estimates and determinations are required when assessing the economically recoverable reserves of an oil 
and gas field. Such estimates are impacted by a number of factors, including commodity prices, future capital 
expenditure and the available reservoir data. The estimation of oil and gas reserves affects the calculation of 
depreciation, the recoverable amount of assets for the purpose of impairment testing and the anticipated date of 
decommissioning. A 5% reduction in the estimation of proved and probable reserves would have increased the 
depreciation charge by $4.8 million. 
 
(b) Decommissioning costs (note 18) 
 

acilities 
and properties. The Group assesses its decommissioning provision at each reporting date. The ultimate 
decommissioning costs are uncertain and cost estimates can vary in response to many factors including the expected 
timing, extent and amount of expenditure. On the basis that all other assumptions in the calculation remain the same, 
a 5% increase in the cost estimates used to assess the final decommissioning obligation would result in an increase to 
the decommissioning provision of circa $4.1 million. This change would be principally offset by a change to the value 
of the associated asset. 
 
  



NSV Energy Limited  
 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

Registered number: 06220464  33 
 

3. Discontinued operations 

On 26 March 2021, Tailwind Mistral Ltd entered into a sales and purchase agreement with ENI UK Limited for the 
disposal of the Conwy field to ENI. The field was nearing the end of its economic life and the disposal is in line with 

. The disposal was completed on 1 July 2021, on which date control of the Conwy field passed to 
the acquirer. Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of, and the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal, are 
disclosed in the note below. 

The results of the discontinued operations, which have been included in the profit for the year, is disclosed in the 
income statement. 

million) and paid $0.2 million (2020: $0.1 million) in respect of investing activities. 

A gain of $5.5 million arose on the disposal of the Conwy asset, being the difference between the proceeds of disposal 
 

The net liabilities of Conwy at the date of disposal were as follows: 

   

  $'000 

Property, plant and equipment  4,702 

Inventories  5,464 

Decommissioning provision  (37,436) 

   

Net liabilities disposed of  (27,270) 

   

Gain on disposal  5,467 

Total consideration paid for the disposal  (21,803) 

   

Satisfied by   

Cash and cash equivalents  21,803 
 

4. Business combination 

 
In March 2021, Tailwind Energy Ltd entered into a sales and purchase agreement with Decipher Holdco Limited for 
the acquisition of 100% of the share capital of Decipher Energy Limited, with an effective acquisition date of 1 January 
2021. Decipher Energy Limited had two subsidiaries namely Decipher Production Ltd and Decipher Developments 

portfolio, allowing the Group to continue to deploy its strategy of exploiting organic production and near-term reserves 
growth opportunities. 
 
The transaction completed on 8 June 2021 and comprised cash consideration of $97.8 million (effectively $78.0 
million net of cash acquired from Decipher of $19.8 million). For accounting purposes, the effective date of the 
transaction has been determined as 31 May 2021. The entity and its subsidiaries were subsequently renamed Tailwind 
Energy Sirocco Ltd, Tailwind Energy Chinook Ltd and Tailwind Energy Bora Ltd respectively.  
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4. Business combination (continued) 

 
The preliminary estimates of the fair values recognised in respect of net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
assumed are set out in the table below: 
 

   $'000 

Property, plant and equipment   93,892 

Exploration and evaluation assets   92 

Leasehold assets   127 

Inventory   11,439 

Trade and other receivables   4,942 

Cash and bank   10,774 
Cash held in trust for decommissioning security and for operating 
costs   8,983 

Trade and other payables   (3,790) 

Decommissioning provision   (21,430) 

Total identifiable net assets at fair value   105,029 

    

Purchase consideration    

Cash consideration on completion   97,771 

    

Gain on acquisition   (7,258) 
 
Acquisition related costs of $1.0 million were incurred during the period and recognised as an expense within 
operating costs. The cash consideration on completion comprised $90.3 million from operating 
cash flows and an amount of $7.5 million paid by NSV Energy Ltd on behalf of Tailwind Energy Ltd.  An internal 
valuation of the acquired net assets resulted in net fair value adjustments of $20.4 million on property, plant and 
equipment, inventory and decommissioning provision. The gain 
length transaction at the time of acquisition. 
 
Revenue from the Orlando field since the date of acquisition amounted to $13.4 million. Had the acquisition taken 
place at the start of the year, revenue from the Orlando field would have amounted to $18.6 million. 
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5. Revenue 

 
Revenue represents amounts receivable for the sale of hydrocarbons as follows: 

     

Year ended 
31 December 

2021 

Year ended 
31 December 

2020 

      $'000 

Crude oil sales     355,782 258,007 

Gas sales     25,957 4,871 

     381,739 262,878 
 
One customer represented 100% of crude oil sales and two customers represented 100% of gas sales. 
activities consist of one class of business  the acquisition, exploration, development and production of oil and gas 
reserves and related activities in a single geographical area presently being the UK Continental Shelf. 
 
The performance obligation is satisfied by the delivery of the product at an agreed delivery point in the distribution 
chain, often either at the well head or delivery terminal. Payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery. 

6. Operating profit/(loss) 

 
This is stated after charging: 

 

Year ended 
31 December 

2021 

Year ended 31 
December 

2020 

 $'000 $'000 

Operating costs in cost of sales (138,859) (98,635) 

Depreciation - oil and gas producing assets (note 11) (98,177) (106,595) 

Depreciation - fixtures and fittings (note 11) (127) - 

Impairment reversal/(charge) (note 11) 7,821 (60,300) 

Movement in hydrocarbon inventories and under/overlift (27,472) 1,018 
 

  
Year ended 31 

December 2021 

Year ended 31 
December 

2020 

  $'000 $'000 

  10 5 

Audit of the Subsidiaries  287 125 

There were no non-audit services and fees during the year (2020: $nil). 
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7. Staff costs 

 
The monthly average number of persons employed during the year was 19 (2020: 21) including the 4 directors. 

  
Year ended 31 

December 2021 
Year ended 31 

December 2020 

  $'000 $'000 

   4,337 3,969 

Wages and salaries  4,084 2,141 

Social security  1,088 482 

Pension  305 300 

Other  306 74 

  10,120 6,966 

Remuneration of the highest paid director    

Emoluments  1,101 972 

    

  1,101 972 
 

8. Finance income and finance costs 

   
Year ended 31 

December 2021 
Year ended 31 

December 2020 

   $ 000  

Finance income and other gains     

Bank interest income   204 856 

Foreign currency swaps (note 13)   - 2,866 

Exchange differences and other gains   307 - 

   511 3,722 

     

Finance costs, other finance expenses and losses     

Interest on loans   8,162 9,125 

Unwinding of discount on provisions   185 1,544 

Bank charges and other   (53) 6 

Loan commitment fee expensed   2,123 1,607 

Foreign currency hedges   3,692 - 

Finance lease charges   10 - 

Exchange differences and other losses   - 1,037 

   14,119 13,319 
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9. Taxation  

 
The major components of income tax charge/(credit) were: 

 Group 

 

Year ended 31 
December 2021 

Year ended 31 
December 2020 

$'000 $'000 

Current tax   
Current tax on profits for the year and adjustments in respect of prior 
years - - 

Total current tax - - 

   

Deferred tax   

Current year 29,309 (2,639) 

Adjustment in respect of previous periods - (6,907) 

Effect of changes in tax rates 1,712 769 

Total deferred tax 31,021 (8,777) 

   

Tax charge/(credit) per income statement 31,021 (8,777) 

 
The standard rate of UK ring fence corporation tax and supplementary charge rate of 40% was applied to the reported 
profit before tax.  
 
The tax charge/ (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before tax as follows: 

 Group 

 
Year ended 31 

December 2021 
Year ended 31 

December 2020 

 $'000 $'000 

Profit/(loss) before tax 101,354 (42,968) 

   

Tax on profit/(loss) at standard UK rate of 40% 40,542 (17,187) 
Effects of:   

Adjustments in respect of prior years - (6,907) 

Expenses not deductible 13,534 1,965 

Income not taxable (5,132) (2,293) 

Investment allowance  - 

Tax rate changes 1,712 769 

Deferred tax not recognised 1,635 1,670 

Impact of Outside Ring Fence activity taxable at 19% (21,270) 13,206 

   

   

Income tax charge/(credit) reported in profit or loss 31,021 (8,777) 
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9. Taxation (continued) 

Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred income tax at year end relates to the following: 

      Group Company 

 

Year ended 
31 December 

2021 

Year ended 31 
December 

2020 

Year ended 
31 December 

2021 

Year ended 31 
December 

2020 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

     
Deferred tax liability     

Accelerated capital allowances (268,470) (219,311) - - 

Temporary differences on hedges - (21,343) - - 

 (268,470) (240,654) - - 
Deferred tax asset     

Decommissioning provisions 24,551 33,010 - - 

Tax losses carried forward 276,547 272,586 - - 

Investment allowance 21,198 20,161 - - 

Temporary differences on hedges 256 -   

 322,552 325,757 - - 

     

Deferred tax asset 54,082 85,103 - - 

 
Movement of deferred tax 

 Group Company 

 

Year ended 
31 December 

2021 

Year ended 31 
December 

2020 

Year ended 
31 December 

2021 

Year ended 31 
December 

2020 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Deferred tax at beginning of year 85,103 76,326 - - 
(Charged)/credited to profit and loss 
account (31,021) 8,777 - - 

Deferred tax asset at end of year  54,082 85,103 - - 
     

 
21 are recognised to the extent that taxable profits are expected to 

arise in the future against which tax losses and allowances in the UK can be utilised. In accordance with IAS 12 
Income Taxes, the Group assessed the recoverability of its deferred tax assets at 31 December 2021 with respect to 
ring fence tax losses and allowances. No deferred tax asset was recognised on non-ring fence losses of $12.9 million 
(2020: $9.5 million) as at 31 December 2021 as the Group do not consider to be probable that future taxable profits 
will be available for these losses to be utilised against. 
 
A change to the UK corporation tax rate was substantively enacted on 4 March 2020. The corporation tax main rate for 
the period beginning 1 April 2021 will remain at 19% and from 1 April 2023, will increase to 25%. As the increase to 
25% was substantively enacted at the balance sheet date the effect is included in these financial statements. 
 
On 26 May 2022 the Chancellor announced a new tax on the profits of oil and gas companies operating in the UK and 
the UK Continental Shelf . It will increase the headline rate of tax on those profits from 40% to 65%. The Energy 
Profits Levy will apply to profits arising on or after 26 May 2022. It is temporary and will be phased out when oil and 
gas prices return to historically more normal levels. The legislation will also include a sunset clause, which will 
remove the tax after 31 December 2025. The company is currently evaluating the impact of this recent announcement. 
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10. Exploration and evaluation assets 

Group   

31 
December 

2021 

31 
December 

2020 

   $'000 $'000 
     
At beginning of year   27,579 19,307 

Additions in the year   2,043 7,859 

Transfer to PPE   (29,554) - 

Acquisition of subsidiary   92 - 

Movement in decommissioning assets (note 18)   - 413 
At end of year   160 27,579 

 
The Evelyn field obtained its field development approval in February 2021 and as a result, the cost of the exploration 
and evaluation assets relating to the Evelyn field was transferred to property, plant and equipment. The interest-bearing 
loans (note 19) are secured over the oil and gas assets of the Group. The Company did not have any exploration and 
evaluation assets. 

11. Property, plant and equipment 

 

Group 
Oil and gas development 

& production assets 
Fixtures 

and fittings Total 

 $ 000 $ 000 $ 000 
Cost    
At 1 January 2020 822,073 167 822,240 

Additions in the year 42,278 - 42,278 

Movement in decommissioning assets (note 19) 21,695 - 21,695 

Disposal - (167) (167) 
At 31 December 2020 886,046 - 886,046 

Additions in the year 101,886 - 101,886 

Transfer from exploration and evaluation assets 29,554 - 29,554 

Acquisition of subsidiary (note 4) 93,892 126 94,018 

Movement in decommissioning assets (note 19) 17,058 - 17,058 

Disposal of oil and gas asset (227,385) - (227,385) 

At 31 December 2021 901,051 126 901,177 
    

Depreciation    
At 1 January 2020 186,151 167 186,318 

Charge for the year 106,595 - 106,595 

Impairment charge 60,300 - 60,300 
Disposal - (167) (167) 

At 31 December 2020 353,046 - 353,046 

Charge for the year 98,177 126 98,303 

Impairment reversal, net (7,821) - (7,821) 

Disposal of oil and gas asset (222,683) - (222,683) 

At 31 December 2021 220,719 126 220,845 
    

Net book value    
At 31 December 2020 533,000 - 533,000 

At 31 December 2021 680,332 - 680,332 



NSV Energy Limited  
 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

Registered number: 06220464  40 
 

11. Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
The interest bearing loans (note 19) are secured over the oil and gas assets of the Group. The Company did not have 
any property, plant and equipment. 
 
There were no impairment indicators as at year end in relation to the Orlando, Columbus and Triton assets and no full 
impairment tests have been performed.  In the prior year, as a result of the impairment test described below, oil and 
gas production assets were impaired by $49.6 million relating to the Conwy field and $10.7 million relating to the 
Columbus field. The impairment arose as a result of the lower price environment following the Covid-19 impact on 
the oil supply and demand and for Conwy, in addition to the oil prices, the asset was expected to cease production 
earlier than previously planned due to not being economically viable from 2022.  
 
The Conwy field was disposed of during 2021 and therefore, no reversal of impairment assessment was performed. 
An assessment for reversal of impairment was performed for the Columbus field and this resulted in a reversal of 
impairment of $10.5 million following the significant increase in oil and gas prices at year end compared to prior year.  
 
An impairment on $2.7 million was recognised on the Orlando field specifically relating to equipment which will be 
replaced during a planned workover in 2022. 
  
For information on significant estimates and judgements made in relation to impairments, see Note 2. 
 
Impairment testing 
 
The method used to determine the recoverable amount is based on the value in use method using a discounted cash 
flow model based on internal assumptions, including a post-tax discount rate of 10%, and future cash flows based on 
forward curve commodity prices and production cost and profiles. The value in use is based on cash flows expected 
to be generated by the projected oil or gas production profiles up to the expected dates of cessation of production on 
each producing field, based on current estimates of proven and probable reserves. As the production profile and related 

over the estimated life of the field is the appropriate basis upon which to assess individual assets for impairment. 
 
The Brent oil price assumptions (in real terms) used in the impairment review of oil and gas producing assets ranged 
from $74.1/bbl in 2022 to $65.2/bbl in 2030 (2020: $49.9/bbl in 2021 to $54.5/bbl in 2030) which is the end of life of 
field fo
43p/therm) over the life of field. 
 
Key assumptions for the oil and gas prices were based on the forward curve, views of global supply and demand, 
building upon past experience in the industry and using information from external sources. The key assumptions 
required for the value is use estimation are the oil and gas prices, production and cost profiles and the discount rate. 
Sensitivity to changes in the key assumptions are shown in note 2. 

12. Investment in subsidiary 

 Company 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

 $'000 $'000 

   
At beginning of year 2 2 

Additions - - 

At end of year 2 2 

 
  



NSV Energy Limited  
 

Notes to the Financial Statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

Registered number: 06220464  41 
 

12. Investment in subsidiary 

 
At 31 December 2021, the principal subsidiary undertaking of the Company which was wholly owned were: 
 

Name of company Country of incorporation 
Ordinary share capital 
holding Main activity 

Tailwind Energy Ltd UK 100% Oil and gas 
Tailwind Mistral Ltd UK 100%* Oil and gas 
Tailwind Energy Sirocco Ltd UK 100%* Oil and gas 
Tailwind Energy Chinook Ltd UK 100%* Oil and gas 
Tailwind Energy Bora Ltd UK 100%* Oil and gas 

* Indirect holding 
 
The registered address of Tailwind Energy Ltd, Tailwind Mistral Ltd, Tailwind Energy Sirocco Ltd and Tailwind 
Energy Bora Ltd is 62 Buckingham Gate, London, SW1E 6AJ, United Kingdom. The registered address of Tailwind 
Energy Chinook Ltd is c/o Burness Paull LLP, Union Plaza, Aberdeen, AB10 1DQ. 
 

13. Other financial assets 

Group  31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Measured at fair value     
Commodity swaps and options 37,762 (6,669) 5,003 (2,537) 

Foreign currency swaps 485 (4,008) 11,177 (3,456) 

     
Total current 38,247 (10,677) 16,180 (5,993) 

     
Measured at fair value     
Commodity swaps and options 1,204 (234) 3,169 - 

Foreign currency swaps 122 (902) 213 - 

     

Total non-current 1,326 (1,136) 3,382 - 

     
Total current and non-current 39,573 (11,813) 19,562 (5,993) 

 
All financial instruments that are initially recognised and subsequently re-measured at fair value have been classified 

into the following levels based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.  
 
Level 1: fair value measurements are derived from unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities.  
 
Level 2: fair value measurements include inputs, other than quoted prices included within level 1, which are observable 
directly or indirectly.  
 
Level 3: fair value measurements are derived from valuation techniques that include significant inputs not based on 
observable data. 
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13. Other financial assets (continued) 

 

 Financial assets Financial liabilities 

Group  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Measured at fair value       
As at 31 December 2021 - 39,573 - - (11,813) - 

As at 31 December 2020 - 19,562 - - (5,993) - 
 
The Group uses put and call options and swap contracts to manage its exposure to the oil price and foreign currency 
exposure to GBP. Derivative financial instruments are valued by counterparties, with the valuations reviewed 
internally and corroborated with readily available market data (level 2). 
 
Commodity and foreign currency derivative contracts are designated as at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL), 
and gains and losses on these contracts are recognised in the income statement. Commodity derivative contracts 
typically include bought and sold call options, bought put options and commodity swap contracts. Foreign currency 
derivative contracts include foreign currency swap contracts. 
 
The following gains and losses were recognised in the income statement: 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

 $'000 $'000 

Commodity contracts designated as FVPL   

Contracts matured during the year (10,052) 1,902 

Mark-to-market unrealised gains 26,427 1,141 

Recognised in other income/(costs) 16,375 3,043 

Foreign currency swap contracts designated as FVPL   

Contracts matured during the year 8,544 (2,468) 

Mark-to-market unrealised gains (12,236) 5,334 
Recognised in finance costs, other finance expenses and 
losses/finance income and other gains (3,692) 2,866 

 
The mark-to- as at 31 December 2021 was an asset (net) of $27.8 million (2020: 
asset of $13.6 million). 
 
The Company did not have any financial instruments at fair value. 
 

14. Inventories 

  Group 

  31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

  $'000 $'000 

Hydrocarbons  10,070 11,925 

Consumables and supplies  1,365 - 

  11,435 11,925 

 
Hydrocarbons are measured at net realisable value. There was no hydrocarbon inventory for the Company. 
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15. Trade and other receivables 

 Group  Company 

 31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 
Current      

Trade receivables 2,268 1,301  - - 

Accrued receivables 49,552 1,047  - - 

Other receivables 8,812 17,260  - - 

Underlift position 1,553 30,046  - - 

Prepayments 11,375 1,657  - - 

Tax receivable 436 2,478  - - 

Amounts receivable from subsidiary - -  7,581 5,081 

 73,996 53,789  7,581 5,081 

Non-current      

Other receivables 4,003 12,465  - - 

Trade receivables are non-
considered to be impaired and there are no financial assets past due but not impaired at the year end. The carrying 
values of the trade and other receivables are equal to their fair values as at the balance sheet date. 
 
Current and non-current other receivables include a total amount of $12.5 million representing the remaining 
unamortised costs of entering a revenue contract deferred over future periods. The Company entered in a fixed price 
contract with Mercuria during 2019 to sell at least 4
2020 and 2023. The cost to enter this arrangement was $58.2 million and this cost is amortised to the income statement 
in other costs based on volumes lifted at fixed prices with an amount of $16.8 million amortised during the year within 
other costs in the income statement and a total of $45.7 million amortised as at 31 December 2021. 

16. Cash and cash equivalents 

 Group  Company 

 31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 $ 000 $ 000  $ 000 $ 000 
Cash at bank and in hand 104,813 62,471  6 38,748 
      

 104,813 62,471  6 38,748 

17. Trade and other payables 

 Group  Company 

 31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 
Current      
Trade creditors 11,675 7,157  - - 
Accruals  25,893 19,122  5 5 
Accruals  operated assets 3,530 -  - - 
Accruals  non-operated assets 13,338 16,677  - - 
Overlift position 13,710 -  - - 
Other creditors 2 141  - - 

 68,148 43,097  5 5 
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17. Trade and other payables (continued) 

 
Trade payables are normally non-interest bearing and settled on terms of between 10 and 30 days. Accrued expenses 
include accruals for capital and operating expenditure in relation to the oil and gas assets.   
 

and other payables as stated above is considered to be a reasonable 
approximation of their fair value largely due to the short-term maturities. 

18. Provisions 

 Group 

 
Contingent 

consideration Royalty 
Decommissioning 

provision Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
At 1 January 2021 18,042 7,916 82,525 108,483 
Utilisation in the year - - (1,914) (1,914) 
Unwinding of discount (42) 182 45 185 
Transfer to accruals - (8,098) - (8,098) 
Change in estimate - 36,182 17,141 53,323 
Acquisition of subsidiary - - 21,430 21,430 
Disposal of Conwy - - (37,436) (37,436) 

At 31 December 2021 18,000 36,182 81,791 135,973 

     
Current 18,000 - - 18,000 
Non-current - 36,182 81,791 117,973 

At 31 December 2021 18,000 36,182 81,791 135,973 

 
There were no provisions in the Company. Contingent consideration represents amounts payable subject to future 
production volume results on certain assets in the Triton Cluster from 2022 to 2030. 
 
Royalty represents amounts payable subject to future production volumes and commodity prices over the life of certain 
assets in the Triton Cluster. The increase in royalty provision during 2021 is mainly due to the significant increase in 
the forecast oil price over the remaining life of the Triton assets. 
 
The provision for the above deferred, contingent and royalty considerations represents the best estimate of amounts 
payable under the sale and purchase agreement for the Triton Cluster as at the balance sheet date and will be reviewed 
at least annually, taking into account actual production results and planned activities. Changes to the provisions will 
be presented in the profit and loss statement on a prospective basis. 
 
The decommissioning provision represents the present value of decommissioning costs relating to oil and gas interests 
in the UK which are expected to be incurred up to 2031. These provisions have been created based on Tailwind's 
internal estimates and, where available, operator estimates and third-party reports. The change of $0.7 million in the 
provision from last year relate primarily to the disposal of Conwy reducing the provision by $37.4 million, largely 
offset by new decommissioning obligations relating to the Orlando field acquired during the year of $21.4 million and 
increase in cost estimates of $17.1 million pertaining to the Triton and Columbus fields. These estimates are reviewed 
regularly to take into account any material changes to the assumptions. However, actual decommissioning costs will 
ultimately depend upon future market prices for the necessary decommissioning works required, which will reflect 
market conditions at the relevant time. Furthermore, the timing of decommissioning is likely to depend on when the 
fields cease to produce at economically viable rates. This in turn will depend upon future oil and gas prices, which are 
inherently uncertain. 
 
Discount rates ranging from 0.62% to 0.93% and an inflation rate of 2.58% have been applied to decommissioning 
estimates when determining the net present value of the decommissioning provision. 
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19. Interest bearing loans 

The Group's loan is carried at amortised cost as 
follows: 

  
   

 Group  Company 

 

31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

      
Reserve based lending  at 
beginning of year 

277,209 307,209 
 

84,235 114,235 

Drawdown/(repayment) during the 
year 

72,791 (30,000) 
 

- (30,000) 

Reserve based lending  at end of 
year 

350,000 277,209 
 

84,235 84,235 

Loan commitment fees (5,401) (2,862)  (1,723) (1,064) 

 344,599 274,347  82,512 83,171 

      
Due within one year - -  - - 
Due after more than one year 344,599 274,347  82,512 83,171 

 344,599 274,347  82,512 83,171 

 

addition to the committed $350.
basis.  Interest will accrue at LIBOR plus a margin of between 2.5% to 3.1% depending on the maturity of the facility. 
Tailwind is primarily exposed to 1 month USD LIBOR that will be available until June 2023. The facility had a six-year term 
due to mature on 23 September 2025. In March 2021, the facility term was amended and extended with a new maturity 
date of 30 June 2027. In addition, in October 2021, the reserve based facility amount was increased to $425 million. 
 
During the year, Tailwind Mistral Ltd made further drawdowns of $72.8 million and in the prior year, Tailwind Energy 
Ltd made a voluntary repayment of $30.0 million. The current year drawdowns were netted against interest payments 
on the RBL of $2.7 million such that actual cash flows from the drawdowns were $70.1 million As at the end of the 
year, the portion of the facility drawn down by Tailwind Mistral Ltd amounted to $265.8 million and by Tailwind 
Energy Ltd amounted to $84.2 million.  
 
The total facility available for draw-down as at 31 December 2021 was $425.0 million (2020: $330.0 million). 
 
On 24 September 2018, the Company also entered in a Junior Facility agreement with Mercuria Energy Trading S.A. 
for a facility of $50.0 million available on demand and with a maturity of 24 September 2026. There were no 
drawdowns on this facility as at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil). 
 
Changes in financial liability arising from financing activities 
 

 1 January 
2021 

Cash flows Dividends 
declared 

Loan commitment 
fees expensed 

31 December 
2021 

      
Group      
Reserve based lending 274,347 69,491 - 761 344,599 
Dividends - (36,446) 36,446 - - 
Company      
Dividends - (36,446) 36,446 - - 
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19. Interest bearing loans (continued) 

 
Changes in financial liability arising from financing activities (continued) 
 

 1 January 
2020 

Cash flows Dividends 
declared 

Loan commitment 
fees expensed 

31 December 
2020 

      
Group      
Reserve based lending 303,632 (30,517) - 1,232 274,347 
Dividends (note 21) - (71,773) 71,773 - - 
Company      
Dividends (note 21) - (71,773) 71,773 - - 

20. Authorised and issued share capital 

 
31 December 

2021 

31 
December 

2020  
31 December 

2021 

31 
December 

2020 

  No.  $ $ 

Authorised and issued shares:      
Ordinary shares of £0.005 each 290 290  1 1 

 
Dividends of $125,678 per share amounting to $36.4 million were declared and paid in November 2021. 

21. Commitments 

Capital commitments 
 
At 31 December 2021, the Group had commitments for future capital expenditure relating to its oil and gas and 
exploration and evaluation assets amounting to $151.7 million (2020: $28.1 million) and had issued a letter of credit 
for future decommissioning liabilities of $28.0 million which was guaranteed by Mercuria Trading S.A. 

22. Financial instruments 

: 

 Group  Company 

 

31 
December 

2021 

31 
December 

2020 

 
31 

December 
2021 

31 
December 

2020 
 $'000 $'000  $'000 $'000 
Held at amortised cost      
Trade and other receivables 60,632 2,348  7,581 5,081 
Cash and cash equivalents 104,813 62,471  6 38,748 
Interest bearing loans (350,000) (277,209)  - - 
Trade and other payables (54,438) (43,097)  (5) (5) 
 (238,993) (255,487)  7,582 43,824 
At FVTPL      
Derivative financial instruments 27,760 13,569  - - 

 
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to manage short-
acquisitions.  
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22. Financial instruments (continued) 

 
luctuations in oil price, foreign 

currency risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. Management reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, 
which are summarised below. Also presented below is a sensitivity analysis to indicate sensitivity to changes in market 

applicable. The sensitivity has been prepared for the periods ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 using 
the amounts of debt and other financial assets and liabilities held at those reporting dates.  
 
Commodity price risk  oil prices 
 
The Group is exposed to the impact of changes in Brent oil prices on its revenues and profits generated from sales of 
crude oil. 
 

50% of the next three years production on a rolling 
annual basis. Details of the commodity derivative contracts entered into during and in place at the end of 2021 are 
disclosed in note 13. 
 

-tax profit and total equity of a reasonably possible 
change in the Brent oil price on the fair value of derivative financial instruments, with all other variables held constant. 
As the derivatives on hand at 31 December 2021 have not been designated as hedges, there is no impact on other 
comprehensive income within equity. 

  Pre-tax profit Equity 

 
 +$10/bbl 

increase 
-$10/bbl 
decrease 

+$10/bbl 
increase 

-$10/bbl 
decrease 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
31 December 2021  (51,728) 51,728 - - 
31 December 2020  (5,491) 4,851 - - 

 
Interest Rate Risk Profile of Financial Assets and Liabilities 
 
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December is as follows: 

 
 Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Group      
Year ended 31 December 2021 - Floating rate     
Cash  104,813 - - 104,813 
Interest bearing loan  - - (350,000) (350,000) 
  104,813 - (350,000) (245,187) 
Year ended 31 December 2020 - Floating rate     
Cash  62,471 - - 62,471 
Interest bearing loan  - - (277,209) (277,209) 
  62,471 - (277,209) (214,738) 

 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of finance revenue and finance costs to a reasonably possible change 

interest 
bearing loans). 
 

 
  

 
 

Effect on profit before tax 
31 December 2021 

     $'000 
Increase/decrease in interest rate     
+0.5%    (1,723) 
-0.5%    1,723 
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22. Financial instruments (continued) 

 
The other financial instruments of the Group that are not included in the above tables are non-interest bearing and 
are therefore not subject to interest rate risk. 
 
The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Company as at 31 December is as follows: 
 

 
 Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Company      
Year ended 31 December 2021-Floating rate     
Cash  6 - - 6 
  6 - - 6 
Year ended 31 December 2020-Floating rate     
Cash  38,748 - - 38,748 
  38,748 - - 38,748 

 
Credit risk 
 

assets arises from the default of a counterparty 
 gas sales are 

all contracted with well-established trading, oil and gas or energy companies and the Group deposit cash surpluses 
with major banks of high-quality credit standing. 
 
Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily arising from exchange rate movements in US Dollar against 
Pounds Sterling.  To mitigate exposure to movements in exchange rates, wherever possible, financial assets and 
liabilities are held in currencies that match the functional currency of the relevant entity. Exposures can arise from 
sales or purchases denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant entity, such exposures 
are monitored and hedged with agreement from the Board. During 2020, the Group also entered into foreign currency 
derivative contracts to hedge its pound sterling requirements for 2021.  
 

-tax profit and total equity of a reasonably possible 
change in the US Dollar to pound sterling exchange rate on the fair value of derivative financial instruments, with all 
other variables held constant. As the derivatives on hand at 31 December 2021 have not been designated as hedges, 
there is no impact on other comprehensive income within equity. 
 
 
 

  Pre-tax profit Equity 

 
 +10% 

increase 
-10% 

decrease 
+10% 

increase 
-10% 

decrease 

  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
31 December 2021  22,293 (22,293) - - 
31 December 2020  14,359 (14,359) - - 
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22. Financial instruments (continued) 

Liquidity risk 
 
The Group monitors the amount of borrowings maturing within any specific period and proposes to meet its financing 
commitments from the operating cash flows of the business and existing committed lines of credit. 
 

2021 based on contractual undiscounted payments.  
 Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Group     
Year ended 31 December 2021     

     

Trade and other payables (54,438) - - (54,438) 
Interest bearing loan - - (350,000) (350,000) 

     

Company     
Year ended 31 December 2021     

     

Trade and other payables (5) - - (5) 
     

 
 Within 1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
Group     
Year ended 31 December 2020     

     

Trade and other payables (43,097) - - (43,097) 
Interest bearing loan - - (277,209) (277,209) 

     

Company     
Year ended 31 December 2020     

     

Trade and other payables (5) - - (5) 
     

 
 
Capital risk management 
 

order to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal structure to reduce the cost of capital.  
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or 
sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group maintains capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is 
calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
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22. Financial instruments (continued) 

Capital risk management (continued) 
 
The gearing ratio at 31 December for the Group was as follows: 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

 $'000 $'000 

Total borrowings (note 19) 350,000 277,209 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (note 16) (104,813) (62,471) 

Net debt 245,187 214,738 
Total equity plus net debt 653,048 588,712 

Gearing ratio % 37.5% 36.5% 

23. Related party 

 
The Group financial statements include the financial statements of NSV Energy Limited and its subsidiaries, Tailwind 
Energy Ltd, Tailwind Mistral Ltd, Tailwind Energy Sirocco Ltd, Tailwind Energy Chinook Ltd and Tailwind Energy 
Bora Ltd. Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiary, which are related parties, have been 
eliminated on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note. 
 

 and Mercuria Energy Trading S.A., a subsidiary in one of 
the Mercuria Group. Balances and transactions with Mercuria Energy Trading S.A. are disclosed below. 
 
 

 31 December 2021 31 December 2020 
 $'000 $'000 
Mercuria Energy Trading S.A.   

Other financial assets (note 13) 27,760 13,569 
Accrued receivables (note 15) 41,663 - 
Accruals (750) (5,455) 

 
On 24 September 2019, the Group entered in a Junior Facility agreement with Mercuria Energy Trading S.A. for a 
facility of $50 million. There were no drawdowns on this facility as at 31 December 2021. 
 
Transactions in income statement with Mercuria Energy Trading 
S.A. 

Year ended 31 
December 2021 

Year ended 31 
December 2020 

   
Revenue (note 5) 342,352 257,886 
Cost of sales (7,986) (14,339) 
Gains on commodity derivative contracts (note 13) 16,375 3,043 
Gains on foreign currency derivative contracts (note 13) (3,692) 2,866 
Loan commitment fee accrued (375) (375) 

 
There are no related party transactions, or transactions with Directors that require disclosure except for the 
remuneration items disclosed in the Directors Report and note 7 above. These disclosures include the compensation 
of key management personnel. 
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24. Interests in joint arrangements 

The Group, jointly with other participants, owns interests in licences for the exploration and production of 

December 2021 are: 

   Interest % 
Joint arrangement    
Triton   46.42% 
Bittern   64.63% 
Guillemot West   10.00% 
Columbus   25.00% 
Valkyrie   25.00% 
Arthur   30.00% 

 
25. Immediate and ultimate parent company 

 
The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Tailwind Energy Investments Ltd which is wholly owned by Tailwind 
Holdings LLP, itself a 51% subsidiary of Cavendish Energy Holdings Ltd.  Cavendish Energy Holdings Ltd is also 
the ultimate parent company and ultimate controlling party, and which prepares consolidated financial statements. All 
companies in the Group are incorporated in the UK. Its registered office address is Balfour House Suite 206, 741 High 
Road, North Finchley, London, United Kingdom, N12 0BP. 
 
26. Post balance sheet events 

On 27 February 2022, a conflict broke out between Russia and Ukraine. Following this, numerous governments around 
the world have implemented sanctions against Russia and Belarus. The Directors do not expect any material impact 
for the Group and its subsidiaries. 
 

Investments Ltd. 
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Glossary of Terms 
 

2P  Proven and probable reserves 
  

2C Contingent resources 
  

BBL  Barrel 
  

BEIS Department for Business, Environment & Industrial Strategy 
  

boe  Barrels of oil equivalent 
  

boepd  Barrels of oil equivalent per day 
  

bpd  Barrels of oil per day 
  

Capex Capital expenditure 
  

CPR  
  

EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax and depreciation and amortisation 
  

ERCE Energy resource consultants 
  

FPAL First Point Assessment 
  

FPSO Floating, Producing, Storage and Off-Loading unit 
  

ISDA International Swaps and Derivatives Association 
  

kbopd Thousands of barrels of oil per day 
  

kboepd Thousands of barrels of oil equivalent per day 
  

MER Maximising Economic Recovery 
  

mmbbls Million barrels 
  

mmboe  Million barrels of oil equivalent 
  

mmboepd  Million barrels of oil equivalent per day 
  

NBP National Balancing Point 
  

Net Debt  The cash and cash equivalents less total debt recognised on the consolidated balance sheet 
  

Opex Operating expenditure 
  

OPRED Offshore Petroleum Regulator for Environment and Decommissioning 
  

UKCS UK Continental Shelf 
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Non-IFRS Measures 
 

The Group uses certain measures of performance that are not specifically defined under IFRS or other 
generally accepted accounting principles. Definitions and reconciliations to the nearest equivalent IFRS measure 
are presented below. 
 
Unlevered free cash flow 
 
Unlevered free cash flow is defined as cash from operations less capital expenditure and decommissioning 
expenditure. 

   
2021 

 
Cash from operations (cash flow statement)   219,038 
Less 
Purchase of property, plant and equipment   (101,886) 
Purchase of exploration and evaluation assets   (2,043) 
Decommissioning expenditure   (1,914) 
Acquisition of subsidiary   (78,014) 
Disposal of oil and gas asset   (21,803) 
    

Unlevered free cash flow   13,378 
 

EBITDA 
 
This is a useful indicator of underlying business performance and is defined as earnings before interest, tax and 
depreciation  
 

   

Year 
ended 31 

December 
2021 

 
Profit for the year (income statement)   70,333 
Adjusted for: 
Finance income and other gains (note 8)   (511) 
Finance costs, other finance expense and losses (note 8)   14,119 
Taxation (note 9)   31,021 
Depreciation, depletion and amortisation (note 11)   98,177 
Impairment (note 11)   (7,821) 
Change in provisions expensed   36,182 
Gain on acquisition/disposal of subsidiary/asset   (12,725) 
EBITDA   228,775 
 
Net debt 
 

 and is defined as the cash and 
cash equivalents less total debt recognised on the consolidated balance sheet. 
 

   
2021 

 
Cash and cash equivalents (note 16)   104,813 
Interest bearing loans   (350,000) 
Net debt   (245,187) 

 
 


